USER TESTING REPORT May 2015

Ingalls Library



Prepared for: Ingalls Library The Cleveland Museum of Art

Prepared by: Lisa Barrier Erin Lee Barsan Greg Chaput Alexandra Provo Pratt Institute

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report details the results from a user test performed on the Ingalls Library website as well as recommendations for improvement based on those results. Located within The Cleveland Museum of Art, the Ingalls Library has a large number of holdings and supports the Museum's collections, exhibitions, research, publications and programs. It is vital that the Library's Online Public Access Catalog (OPAC) be easy to navigate, so that both those familiar with the library as well as new users can find the library resources and information they seek.

A team of four evaluators from Pratt Institute performed a total of eight user tests, focusing primarily on the Ingalls Library OPAC. All testing was conducted using the online software platform, UserZoom. Using this platform, evaluators created pre-test, post-task, and post-test questionnaires in order to assess users experience with the interface both qualitatively and quantitatively.

After testing was completed, evaluators collaborated to determine three main opportunities for improvement on which to focus:

- 1. Search and Browse Functionalities
- 2. Display of Search Results
- 3. E-Shelf Functionality

Further analysis within each of the above categories yielded several findings and, as a result, a plethora of actionable recommendations are presented. These recommendations include, but are not limited to: adopting more user-friendly terminology, clarifying the browse function, providing misspelled word detection, offering faceted searching, and increasing the visibility of the e-shelf feature. The goal of these suggestions is to enhance the overall experience of users of the Ingalls Library OPAC which will, in turn, surely increase the usability and visibility of the Ingalls Library and its website as a whole.

Table of Contents

	2
METHODOLOGY	2
FINDINGS & RECOMMENDATIONS	5
RECOMMENDATIONS: Search and Browse Functionalities Make advanced search accessible within basic search Adopt more user-friendly terminology on the search pages Clarify the site's browse function Change the purpose of the upper right corper search box	
RECOMMENDATIONS: Display of Search Results Display search results immediately during advanced search Provide detection and feedback for misspelled words Allow users to sort search results by column heading Provide faceted search refinement options Add a "View All Search Results" option Include images or icons to represent item types	
RECOMMENDATIONS: E-Shelf Functionality Increase visibility of e-shelf feature. Reduce complexity of e-shelf functionality on search results page.	
	20
REFERENCES	20
APPENDICES	22
APPENDIX A: Participant Consent Form	22
APPENDIX B: Moderator Materials	24
APPENDIX C: Questionnaires & Responses	28

INTRODUCTION

The Ingalls Library is the art library within The Cleveland Museum of Art. Hosting over 500,000 volumes of art-related resources, the main mission of the Ingalls Library is to support the Museum's collections, exhibitions, research, publications and programs. Therefore, its users consist of a broad range of students, scholars, researchers, art historians, curators, and the general public. The current library user interface promotes access to its Online Public Access Catalog (OPAC: <u>http://library.clevelandart.org/opac</u>), which draws upon resources such as e-journals, bibliographies, art assessments and various digitized, art-related materials to provide a consolidated holdings search.

The Ingalls Library is primarily interested in updating the search functions of its OPAC to promote access and use. Specifically, the Library has requested that our team evaluate the site's different search options as well as the way search results are displayed. For the purposes of this user test, we will focus on identifying usability concerns within the OPAC interface of the Ingalls Library and how to better reach its large user demographic.

METHODOLOGY

For our usability study, we conducted a user test to actualize user participation in a taskbased evaluation of the given interface. Important factors involved in a user test are relevant participants, i.e., users, and a controlled environment such as a lab or a specific remote setup. Most user tests also involve a moderator to directly log evaluation notes and maintain structure and pace. In terms of preparation, the user test involves determining due dates, feedback mechanisms and team roles or responsibilities along with recruiting participants, preparing the appropriate evaluation and consent forms, and determining qualitative and quantitative feedback questions or questionnaires (Barnum, 2011). Besides preparation, the user test involves moderation and analysis processes that aid in the gathering and interpretation of statistical and subjective participant results.

To implement our user tests, we first decided upon the following list of participant tasks:

 You're researching Claude Monet's Water Lilies series. Since the Museum owns one of these paintings, you decide the best place to begin researching them is in their library's online catalog. Find what's available in the museum's library about Monet's Water Lilies. Save any relevant information about the resources you are interested in since you'll be going to the library later.

- 2. Please use a different method to find resources available in the museum's library more generally about Claude Monet.
- 3. Research art auctions in which paintings by Monet were sold. You're particularly interested in the oldest and most recent auctions.
- 4. Find books and resources recently purchased by the Ingalls Library.

Through these tasks, we hoped to record user responses to specific subject and topical searches, more general searching or browsing, finding recently acquired titles in the library's catalog, sorting or filtering search results, and saving search results. We expected mixed results with these tasks, which also vary in difficulty and level of technical expertise required by users.

Tests were conducted using UserZoom, a web-based tool that incorporates a questionnaire feature with recording of audio, video of the participant and video screen capture. We designed a series of questionnaires including pre-test measures (Appendix XX) for collecting demographic data, post-task questionnaires (Appendix XX) to collect data about each task, and a post-test questionnaire (Appendix XX) to measure overall experience. The post-task questionnaire consisted of both usability measures and experience measures. To get at usability, we employed the standardized multiple-choice questions that make up the System Usability Scale (SUS). Developed by John Brooke in the mid-1980s and considered highly reliable (Bangor, 2009), this scale consists of ten statements, each of which is presented with a 5-point scale ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree. The statements are:

- I think that I would like to use this website frequently.
- I found the website unnecessarily complex.
- I thought the website was easy to use.
- I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use this website.
- I found the various functions in this website were well integrated.
- I thought there was too much inconsistency in this website.
- I would imagine that most people would learn to use this website very quickly.
- I found the website very cumbersome to use.
- I felt very confident using the website.
- I needed to learn a lot of things before I could get going with this website.

In order to further understand participant experience, we also included the additional free-text questions: "What do you like about the Ingalls Library website?" and "What do you think the Ingalls Library could change about its website to make your experience more enjoyable?"

User recruitment and demographics

To complete the user test, each of the four researchers selected two participants to conduct interface evaluations. To best match the Ingalls Library users, these eight participants were selected based on their convenience and availability as well as their backgrounds in art, museums, libraries or a relevant field of study or profession.

To determine our participants' demographic information, we preceded our user test with a pretest questionnaire containing questions pertaining to age, occupation, preferred online research tools and research history, and familiarity with art-related research. From the pre-test questionnaire, 88% of participants fell within the 25-34 year age range and 13% fell within the 55-64 year age range. The occupations varied, with 50% of the participants representing a "Librarian or Information Professional," 25% representing a "Gallery or Museum Professional," 63% representing "Student," and 50% representing other related professions ("Teacher," "Graphic Designer," "User experience researcher and strategist," "Associate Development Editor"). All participants had previously searched via online library catalogs, and 75% of the participants had previously conducted art-related research Of these 75%, participants had previously conducted art-related research through the following online databases and resources: American Folk Art Museum, Artstor, Artsy, Artforum, Getty Images, Google, JSTOR, Metropolitan Museum of Art (MET) and the Watson Library, Museum of Modern Art (MOMA), New York Public Library (NYPL), Oxford Art Online, Rijksmuseum, and Wikipedia. For the complete pre-test questionnaire and graphical response representations, see Appendix C: Questionnaires & Response.

Study protocol

All user tests were moderated. Each of the four researchers facilitated two testing sessions, each of which lasted between 30 and 45 minutes. To supplement this data, each researcher also took notes using a note-taking form. This included both an indication of whether the participant completed the task as well as general observations made by the researcher. During the test, participants were instructed to "think aloud," a technique in which procedural thoughts and emotional responses are verbalized out loud. This is a way to make explicit not only the actions the participant is taking, but also their reactions to what they are seeing (Barnum, 2011, p. 206). After the test, the participants were offered a reward in the form of chocolate or another type of sweet treat.

Analysis

Following the testing sessions, the four researchers analyzed the quantitative and qualitative data. To begin, a trial session was excluded from the participant list in UserZoom. Each researcher reviewed the video footage captured during the tests they conducted and synthesized observations into a list of problems. As a group, these problems were sorted, consolidated, and prioritized.

FINDINGS & RECOMMENDATIONS

Overall, the visual design of the site appealed to users. When we asked users what they liked about the site, they used words like "sleek", "clean" and "handsome" as well as complimented the site's logo. However, several study participants also commented that the site seemed targeted to catalogers and those with knowledge of libraries.

In our test of 8 individual participants, a total of 32 tasks of four distinct types were attempted. 38% of the time the task could not be completed, 34% of the time the task was completed with difficulty, and 28% of the time the task was completed easily.



Figure 1. Bar graph displaying task-by-task breakdown of number of users and level of completion for each task.

A System Usability Scale (SUS) score was also calculated. As outlined in the Methodology section of this report, the SUS consists of ten established statements about a user's perceptions about ease of use. Users rate each statement on a five-point scale of agree to disagree. In our study, data for each of the ten SUS statements was collected during the post-test questionnaire portion of each testing session. After all participant data was aggregated the SUS score for the site was 35.0, which is below the general SUS average score of 68 for all products (Sauro, 2011). Although the SUS is a number out of 100, the score does not reflect a percentage. Bangor, Kortum, and Miller (2009) applied an additional adjective scale to the SUS, and this was also adapted by Sauro (2011); since the separate adjective scale was found to correlate well with the SUS, it is feasible to use this additional scale to interpret results even though we did not include it in our post-test questionnaire. In both Bangor's and Sauro's scales, the Ingalls Library website scored in the low range, with an adjective of "poor."

In order to address the results of the study, including SUS score and observed user experiences, we present the following recommendations. Our recommendations are grouped under three main areas of focus: (1) search and browse functionalities, (2) the display of search results, and (3) e-shelf feature.

RECOMMENDATIONS: Search and Browse Functionalities

Make advanced search accessible within basic search.

We suggest more clearly articulating the difference between basic search and advanced search to avoid confusion. Several users expressed uncertainty about the difference between the basic search and advanced search features; the value of choosing one type of search over the other was not clear to these users. For example, one user explicitly asked, "What's the difference between basic search and advanced search?" and commented, "advanced search is exactly the same as basic search with more boxes." We observed several users toggling back and forth between the basic and advanced search pages before beginning their searches, apparently attempting to discern the difference between the two types by comparing the page designs supporting the two functions.



Figure 2. Diagram of a navigational structure where basic and advanced searches are more integrated.

One solution to consider is navigational in nature. We suggest integrating basic and advanced search into one page instead of presenting them on separate tabs/pages. Advanced search should be a link on the basic search page, and users should be able to switch between basic and advanced search "views" without leaving the initial search page. In this structure, advanced search is presented as being subordinate to basic search, which is given priority in the structure. Figure 2 shows this proposed navigational structure in diagram form and Figure 3 shows examples from other libraries' websites.

BobCat > Books & More		Login
BobCat		=
Q Find books, e-books, Journal titles Limit to All items Anywhere in the record Search Advanced Search New Search Switch to Advanced Search Switch to Advanced Search 	•, f • that contain my query word •	

Articles and More	Books and M	ore					-	
monet water lilies						× Searc	h Advanced Search Filowse UI Catalog	What am I
ti	hat contain my	query words	s ▼ anywh	ere in the rec	ord 🔻		Switch to Ad	vanced Search
Sign In To Include Complete EBSCO Re	Sults	idn't find ti Results 1 -	ne books y 10 of 1.060	ou were lo	oking for Ind More	? sorted	bv: relevance 🗸	
Expand My Results Expand beyond lib collections	1) prary	Book	Monet's v Vivian Rus Boston : L Availat	vater lilies / V ssell 1952- ittle, Brown, a ble at Art Libr	/ivian Rus and Co. c1 rary (ND55	sell. 998 3.M7 A4 1998)		
Show only			<u>Request</u>	Locations	<u>Details</u>	Reviews & Tags	Additional services	Virtual Browse
Peer Reviewed (138) Full Text Online (1,04)	9)	MIR LUB Book	Monet wa Charles F. New York	ter lilies / Ch Stuckey : Hugh Lauter ole at Art Ove	arles F. S Levin Ass rsize-3 (F	tuckey. ociates : Distributed DLIO ND553.M7 A4	by Macmillan c1988 1988a)	
Refine My Results		DOOK						
Deseures Tupe			Request	Locations	<u>Details</u>	Reviews & Tags	Additional services	Virtual Browse

Figure 3. Example of integrated searches from other libraries' websites. On the OPACs of both New York University (NYU, above) and the University of Iowa

(below), advanced search is presented as a link that can be accessed from the basic search page.

Adopt more user-friendly terminology on the search pages.

We recommend adopting terminology that is more familiar to users throughout the search pages wherever possible. Users encountered some unfamiliar terminology on search pages that contributed to an overall sense of confusion about the search process. For example, several users questioned the meaning of the term "words adjacent," a label that appears with yes/no radial buttons on both the basic and advanced search pages. Several users also expressed uncertainty about the meaning of the term "base" in the phrase "Search within (base)" as well as puzzled over the phrases "search excluding art catalogs" on the pages' drop-down menus.

y Results List My Search History My E-shelf Sign In	
ulti-field Search	
Search	Choose a field to search
Type a word or phrase	Anyword
Vords adjacent? 🖲 NO 🔘 yes	Search Reset Form
nit Search	
nit Search	Language
nit Search	Language All 🗸

Figure 4. Users expressed uncertainty about the meanings of terms and phrases such as "words adjacent," "Search within (base)," and "includes/excludes auction catalogs."

Clarify the site's browse function.

On the "Browse Catalog" page, we recommend making the search box an ancillary part of the page design instead of a required step in the browsing process. Based on their experiences with browsing interfaces in other systems, several users said that the browse function (on the "Browse Catalog" tab) behaved differently than expected. In particular, we observed some confusion around the requirement that users enter search terms in a search box at the beginning of the browsing process, as this traditionally is an activity associated with searching and not with browsing. One study participant commented, "When I'm browsing, I expect to click around and find things... This [browse function] is just another search."

We suggest that lists of browse-able categories should be added to the browse page, and the system should allow users to enter the information space through these different categories. The search box should still be available, but it shouldn't be a *required* part of browsing. To illustrate, Figure 5 show examples of category-based browsing interfaces in other systems.

JSTOR HOME SEARCH BROWSE	₩VJSTOR▼
by Title	Q
Browse by Subject	her
Area Studies (658)	Humanities (12372)
African American Studies (25) African Studies (70) American Indian Studies (9) American Studies (138) Asian Studies (158) British Studies (18) Irish Studies (58) Jewish Studies (66) Latin American Studies (71) Middle East Studies (71) Slavic Studies (20)	Bibliography (28) Classical Studies (66) Film (925) Folklore (28) Language & Literature (6971) Philosophy (2250) Religion (2678) Medicine and Allied Health (1076) Health Policy (24) Health Sciences (1004) Public Health (99)
Architecture & Architectural History (288)	Science and Mathematics (3473)
Art & Art History (906) Music (824)	Aquatic Sciences (62) Astronomy (48)
Arts (2363) Architecture & Architectural History (288) Art & Art History (906) Music (824) Amazon	Public Health (99) Science and Mathematics (3473) Aquatic Sciences (62) Astronomy (48)
	Q Get
Shop by Department - Greg's Amazo	Hello, Greg on.com Today's Deals Gift Cards Sell Your Account -
EARTH'S BIGGEST SELECTION	
Unlimited Instant Videos	Fire TV Home, Garden & Tools



Figure 5. Examples of category-based browsing systems. Above, JSTOR's browseby-subject page. Below, Amazon's shop-by-department page.

Change the purpose of the upper right corner search box.

We suggest minimizing the redundancies in search on the site by reconceiving the "Search the Catalog" search box as a tool for searching the library's website, not the library's catalog. Several users utilized the "Search the Catalog" search box in the upper right corner of the home screen during searches and expressed surprise when the search results seemed to match those generated from a basic catalog search. The difference between the "Search the Catalog" search box and other types of search on the site was not immediately clear to these users. For instance, one user asked explicitly on the post-test questionnaire, "What's the difference between the magnifying glass [i.e., the "Search the Catalog" search box] and the basic search?"

The search box might have an input prompt that reads, "Search the library site." As a corollary to this change, we suggest removing the "Library Site Search" tab from the catalog search area in the middle of the page. Figure 6 shows these suggested changes.

_		Search the library site
catalogs other resources archive	s forms and services	Search the catalog
HE CLEVELAND MUSEUM OF A	RT	
Ingalls Library & Museum Archives	JUERGEN TELLER THE MASTER	Carlo and a second
earch Type: Keywords		(Remove this tab)
Basic Search Advanced Search	Browse Catalog Hel	p Library Site Search
ly Results List My Search History My E-shelf	Sign In	
lulti-field Search		
Search	Choose a field	to search
Type a word or phrase	Anyword	•
Words adjacent? 💿 NO 🔘 yes	Search	Reset Form

Figure 6. Suggested changes to the "Search the Catalog" search box and the "Library Site Search" tab.

RECOMMENDATIONS: Display of Search Results

Display search results immediately during advanced search.

We suggest always providing a list of search results immediately when conducting a catalog search. While using the advanced search, study participants demonstrated confusion when search results were not instantly displayed on the page. Likewise, users did not uniformly recognize the "Item Count" link as the intended way to access search results. All expressed the expectation for a list of results upon searching rather than an item count number, and a few users did not even recognize the importance of the item count as a link to the advanced search results. Specifically, one user claimed that the number of the side of the search bar did not readily suggest search results and two other users thought that the search was unsuccessful because no list of results appeared. As visualized in Figure 7, no listed results appear when searching for "Monet," and only a small line of text below the search box indicates that clicking on the item count will retrieve the subset results.

Basic Search Advar	nced Sea	rch Browse Catal	og Help Library Site S	earch		
My Results List My Search Histor	ry My E-st	nelf Sign In				
Search with Command Language						
choose a field to search		Type a word or phrase	•		Words adjacent?	ltem Count
Anyword	\$	Monet			🖲 no 🔍 yes	389
Anuword					● no ● ves	
Allyword	₹					
Anyword	▼ 	Searc	Beset Form		⊛ no ⊖ yes	
Anyword Anyword To view a subset, click ar mit Search Search within (base)	⇒ the second s	Searc	ch Reset Form e results of all subsets combi	ined, click this TO Format	● no ● yes	389
Anyword To view a subset, click ar mit Search Search within (base) Library Catalog (exclud	the second se	Searce m count. To view the	th Reset Form e results of all subsets combined to the set of all subsets combined to the set of all subsets combined to the set of all set of	ined, click this TO Format	● no ● yes TAL:	389
Anyword Anyword To view a subset, click ar mit Search Search within (base) Library Catalog (exclud	 +) +	Searce em count. To view the on catalogs) \$	th Reset Form e results of all subsets combined Language All \$	ined, click this TO Format All	● no ● yes TAL:	389

Figure 7. The current "Advanced Search" results page, with "Item Count"

To increase the visibility of the advanced search results while preserving the item count function, the site could simply display the combined subsets search results underneath the search field (Figure 8). To clarify that the different subsets can be searched individually, the new results page could keep the text "To view a subset, click any line's item count" and eliminate the combined search text. These changes in the display of advanced search results would allow for direct user feedback as well as maintain the advanced search

option to directly click each subset's individual item count.

Basi	c Search	Advanced Sea	Irch Browse Catalog Hel	p L	ibrary Site Search			
My Resu	uts List My See	rch History My E-s	helf Sign In					
Search v	with Command La	nguage						
Choose	e a field to se	arch	Type a word or phrase				Words adjacent?	Item Count
Anyw	vord	¢	Monet				® no ⊖ yes	389
Anyw	vord	\$					® no ⊖ yes	
Anyw	vord	\$					® no © yes	
e pi	rev	- Showing r	To view a subset, click a records 1 - 10 of 389	iny line	's item count.		ne	xt→
∈ p	rev	Showing (maximum (To view a subset, click a records 1 - 10 of 389 sapley is 1000 records)	ny line	's item count.		ne	×t→
∈ p	TC V Author	Showing r (maximum r	To view a subset, click a records 1 - 10 of 389 Replay is 1000 records)	Year	's item count.	Locations	ne	o xt → Electronic
e p	Author Monet, Clay	- Showing r (maximum o Title tde, Mone Krism	To view a subset, click a records 1 - 10 of 389 Explay is 1000 records) t and the birth of impressionism / Feix or, editor.	Year 2015	's item count.	Locations Library Stacks Processing ND553.M7.44	Ne 1	ext → Electronic
6 p	Author Monet, Clay	Showing ((maximum (Title de, Mone Kriam Von P Arp-M Runst Janua Fisch Kunst	To view a subset, click a records 1 - 10 of 389 inpity is 1000 records) t and the birth of Impressionism / Felix er, editor. vussin bis Monet die Farben Frankreiche : luteur Bahnhof Rolandseck, Remagen, ärz bis 6. September 2015 : Buoerius- Forum Hamburg, 10. Oktober 2015 bis 17. r 2016 / Konzept und Katalog: Eve «Hausdorf ; Ausstellung im Buoerius- Forum: Eve Fischer-Hausdorf ; Aus	Year 2015	's item count.	Locations Library Stacks Processing N2553.M7.44 N2553.M7.44 Library Stacks On Order	ne 1	Electronic

Figure 8. Mockup of "Advanced Search" with both "Item Count" and listed combined subset results

Provide detection and feedback for misspelled words.

earch with Command Language			
choose a field to search	Type a word or phrase	Words adjacent?	Item Count
Anyword	lillies	🗟 💿 no 💿 yes	0
Anyword	\$	lia li ono o yes	
Anyword	•	li le no ⊖ yes	
	Search Reset Form		
To view a subset, click any lin	e's item count. To view the results of all subsets combined, click this TOTAL:		0

Count	Word Index Entry
10	lilliana
2	lilliane
6	lillich
45	lillie
1	lilliecrona
	lillies
1	lillingston
2	lilliput
2	lillis
2	lilliu
6	lillo

Figure 9. Above, advanced search result after attempted search using a misspelled word. Below, adjacent words list provided after an attempted basic search with a misspelled word.

We suggest incorporating a tool into the OPAC to detect commonly misspelled words to immediately offer feedback to users. At least two participants were observed misspelling the word "lilies" as "lillies" during testing sessions. In one of these instances, while using both the advanced and basic search features, the user never realized they were misspelling this word. In the advanced search, after the search button was clicked the item count was zero and in the basic search, a word index showing adjacent words was shown (Figure 9).

As a result, this user attributed the failure of their search to the system. One way to address this is to include a list of commonly misspelled words in the database and display a message with a spelling suggestion. A good example that could serve as a model is found in the University of Iowa Libraries' Smart Search catalog, as shown in Figure 10.

Articles and More	Books and More							
water lillies			×	Search	Advanced Search Browse UI Catalog	What an	n I searching?	
	that contain my quer	y words \$ anywhere in the record \$						
		Did you mean wa	ter lilies?					
Show only	Didr	't find the books you were looking for?					1 2 3 4	5 →
Show only Full Text Online (7, New Publication (1) Didr	"t find the books you were looking for? sults 1 - 10 of 477 for Books and More		sorted	by: relevance 🗸		1 2 3 4	5 •

Figure 10. Example of misspelled word feedback from the University of Iowa Libraries' OPAC.

Allow users to sort search results by column heading

We recommend creating additional functionality to sorting displayed search results. In both "Basic Search" and "Advanced Search," sorting the way in which search results were displayed proved troublesome for five out of the eight tested participants. While the search results provide users with an abundant amount of resources, the participants expressed the need for clearer or more familiar filter and sort options to increase the results' relevancy. One participant in particular articulated the desire for the search interface to be "more consistent with the filtering/formatting in academic databases" (Appendix C: Post-task questionnaire and responses). Five other participants communicated frustration specifically with the filter or sort options for language and year, which greatly impacted the completion of the selected user test tasks.

Figure 11 demonstrates the current search results' "Sort options," which include combined search filters by "author/year," "author/year(up)," "year/author," "author/title," "title/year," "title/year(up)," "year/title," and "sale/title." The image also shows the current column headings, of which only two are clickable or can be used to filter the corresponding results.

В	asic (Search Adva	nced Search Browse Catalog Hel	р	Library Site Search		
My	Results	List My Search Histo	ry My E-shelf Sign In Record Set Options				
ort	option	s: author/year a	uthor/year(up) = year/author = author/title = title/year	ar = title	/year(up) = year/title = s	sale/title	
¢	- pr	ev	Showing records 1 - 10 of 389 (maximum display is 1000 records)	Jun	p to row Jump		next →
#		Author	Title	Year	Date of Sale	Locations	Electronic
1		Monet, Claude,	Monet and the birth of Impressionism / Felix Krämer, editor.	2015		Library Stacks Processing ND553.M7 A4 2015	
2			Von Poussin bis Monet die Farben Frankreichs : Arp-Museum Bahnhof Rolandseck, Remagen, 22. März bis 6. September 2015 : Bucerius- Kunst-Forum Hamburg, 10. Oktober 2015 bis 17. Januar 2016 / Konzept und Katalog: Eva Fischer-Hausdorf ; Ausstellung im Bucerius- Kunst-Forum: Eva Fischer-Hausdorf : Aus	2015		Library Stacks On Order	

Figure

11. Current search results for "Monet," with combined "Sort options" and few clickable metadata heading filters

To promote more user-friendly sort and filter options, the site should align the "Sort options" with the current column headings of "Author," "Title," "Year," "Date of Sale," "Locations," and "Electronic." Additionally, the "Language" filter that only appears at the bottom of the search results list should be added, as this was another point of frustration for users. Matching the filters to the column headings and adding the "Language" filter would increase the sort options familiarity as well as increase the interface's term or language consistency. The website should also make all of the headings clickable to provide an alternate way to turn filters on or off. Within this filter functionality, users would be able to click a heading to change the alphabetical or chronological order of the

results. Figure 12 serves as an example of these proposed "Sort options" and column heading changes.

B	asic S	Search Adva	nced Search Brow	se Catalog Help	Library Site Searc	h	
My	Results	List My Search Histo	ory My E-shelf Sign In R	ecord Set Options			
iort	option	s: Author	Title Year	Date of Sale	Language	Locations	Electronic
<	pr	ev	Showing records 1 - 10 of 3 (maximum display is 1000 record	89 (a)	ump to row] Jump		next →
#		Author	Title	Yea	r Date of Sale	Locations	Electronic
1		Monet, Claude,	Monet and the birth of Im Krämer, editor.	pressionism / Felix 201	5	Library Stacks Processing ND553.M7 A4 2015	
2			Von Poussin bis Monet d Arp-Museum Bahnhof Ru 22. März bis 6. Septemb Kunst-Forum Hamburg, Januar 2016 / Konzept u Fischer-Hausdorf ; Auss Kunst-Forum: Eva Fisch	lie Farben Frankreichs : standseck, Remagen, er 2015 : Bucerius- 10. Oktober 2015 bis 17. 201 di Katalog: Eva sellung im Bucerius- sr-Hausdorf ; Aus	5	Library Stacks On Order	

Figure 12. Search results for "Monet," with proposed clearer "Sort options" and clickable metadata heading filters

Provide faceted search refinement options.

In addition to creating new sort options for search results, we also recommend providing faceted search capabilities to allow users the flexibility to narrow search results by many different criteria. During testing, users displayed a preference for beginning their research by conducting a basic search with the intention of further refining their search results later. Several users explicitly stated that they expected more search refinement options on the search results page as well as expressed being overwhelmed by having to sift through large numbers of search results, many of which are not what they are looking for. While looking for books about Monet, for instance, one participant selected a record and was disappointed to later find out it was not a book but a film. Similarly, two other participants became frustrated to get a large number of search results for books in French, as they did not speak the language. By allowing users to search as specifically or as broadly as they would like, adding the capability for faceted searching would remedy these issues. To illustrate, Figure 13 provides an example of user-friendly faceted search refinement in an academic library OPAC.



Figure 13. Example of faceted searching in Columbia University Libraries' OPAC.

Add a "View All Search Results" option.

Fortunately for Ingalls Library users, the online search functionality provides an ample amount of search results displaying available library resources. While the user test participants appreciated the high amount of searchable holdings, three out of the eight participants expressed frustration in browsing multiple pages of results. Browsing pageby-page overwhelmed two participants, and another participant found that items checked or selected on one page would not remain selected upon moving through other pages. As indicated in Figure 14, the current search results page includes "next" and "prev" arrows to browse the multiple page results.

Basic S	earch Adv	anced Search	Browse Catalog	Help	Library Site Search		
y Results L	ist My Search Hi	story My E-shelf S	Sign In Record Set Options	S			
é pre	V	Showing records (maximum display is	1 - 10 of 389 1000 records)	J	Imp to row] Jump)		next →
← pre	Author	Showing records (maximum display is Title	1 - 10 of 389 1000 records)	Ju	To row Jump	Locations	next →
← pro	Author	Showing records (maximum display is Title	1 - 10 of 389 1000 records)	Ju Year	Date of Sale	Locations Library Stacks	next → Electronic

Figure 14. Current search results page, with "next" and "prev" arrows to browse multiple results pages

To serve users who may wish to see all results on one page (rather than on multiple pages), the Ingalls Library should consider altering its search results navigation bar to include a "view all" page viewing option (Figure 15). This option should appear adjacent to the "next" arrow to allow users the options of viewing all search results at once or browsing page-by-page. Additionally, this "view all" option will also allow users to select results all at once and without losing selections upon navigating to the next page.

Basic Search	Advanced Search	Browse Catalog	Help	Library Site Search		
Results List My S	learch History My E-shelf S	ign In Record Set Options	8			
options: • autho	r/year = author/year(up) = ye	sariauthor = authonitile =	titelyear •	title/year(up) = year/title = sale	fille	
options: • autho	riyear = authoriyear(up) = ye	earlauthor + author/tile +	ttelyear •	title/year(up) • year/title • sale	/SSe	
options: = autho	riyear = authoriyear(up) = ye Showing records 1	earlauthor * authoritile *	tile/year •	tilelyear(up) • yearitile • sale	Atte	

Figure 15. Proposed search results navigation bar with "view all" option

Monet water lilies 1 Available Charles F. Stuckey; Claude Monet 1840-1926. Book New York : Hugh Lauter Levin Associates : Distributed by Macmillan;c1988 Details Add to e-Shelf Send/Share -**Monet's water lilies** 2 Available Vivian Russell:Claude Monet 1840-1926. Book Boston : Little, Brown and Co.;1998 Details □ Add to e-Shelf Send/Share -

Include images or icons to represent item types

Figure 16. Screenshot of NYU's BobCat showing both a book icon and scanned image of the book's cover.

We recommend including images or icons for each record returned in a search to help users scan and interpret results. In testing sessions and in the post-test questionnaire, users expressed an interest in seeing images of the books and other items. One participant was overwhelmed by the search results page and described having a hard time scanning through the results. A solution is that employed by the NYU Libraries' OPAC, BobCat, which includes both an icon and an image of the resource if available (Figure 16).

RECOMMENDATIONS: E-Shelf Functionality

Basic Search A	Ivanced Search Browse Catalog H	lelp Library Site Sear	ch	
My Results List My Search	History My E-shelf Sign In Record Set Options			
Nith selected records:	View Selected Create Subset Add to E-Shelf S	Save or E-mail Save on Server		
With full set:	Select All Un-select All Rank Refine Filter			
ort options: = author/year	<pre>author/year(up) = year/author = author/title = title/</pre>	/year = title/year(up) = year/title	sale/title	
ert options: = author/year	 author/year(up) = year/author = author/title = title/ Showing records 1 - 10 of 12 (maximum display is 1000 records) 	/year = title/year(up) = year/title	sale/title	next →
ort options: = author/year	 author/year(up) = year/author = author/title = title/ Showing records 1 - 10 of 12 (maximum display is 1000 records) Title 	/year = title/year(up) = year/title Jump to row Jump Year Date of Sale	sale/title Locations	

Increase visibility of e-shelf feature.

Figure 17. Current search results page with expanded "Record Set Options" displaying e-shelf buttons.

Providing options for users to save catalog records of interest is an invaluable tool, which can save a great deal of time and effort when conducting research online or planning a visit in person; the e-shelf function does exactly that. Making sure users are aware of this feature will improve their experience conducting research in the Ingalls Library OPAC. During testing, all eight participants struggled to figure out how to save relevant search results. For instance, several participants would select items on the search results page and then click "My E-Shelf" to no avail. Participants struggled with where to find the option to save their search results, and two even noted that they would have expected to find the buttons they were looking for to be located just above the checkboxes on the left-hand side of the search results page. In total, only three participants eventually discovered the tools they were looking for on the search results page were under "Record Set Options" (Figure 17).

In order to make the e-shelf functionality more visible on the search results page, we recommend moving the "Add to E-shelf" and "Save or Email" buttons out from under "Record Set Options" to just above the search results list on the left, as specifically suggested by users (Figure 18).

Reduce complexity of e-shelf functionality on search results page.

We also suggest reducing the complexity of e-shelf functionality on the search results page. As previously mentioned, participants struggled when trying to save selected search results. Terms such as "Record Set Options" were unfamiliar to them, and they often mixed up the "My E-shelf" and "Add to E-shelf" buttons. One user in particular described the experience of attempting to save search results as "deceptively complex." To remedy these concerns, we recommend eliminating many of the options made available from the search results page, e.g., "Record Set Options," as well as renaming "My Eshelf" to "View E-shelf" to reduce ambiguity. Furthermore, to help draw a clearer connection between selecting records and saving them to the e-shelf, an additional option is to change the checkboxes to stars and add the star icon to the e-shelf buttons (Figure 18) much like the experience of "bookmarking" to save web pages in many standard web browsers.



Figure 18. Mockup of search results page with improved e-shelf functionality via reducing, reshaping, renaming & relocating buttons.

CONCLUSION

The Cleveland Museum of Art's Ingalls Library provides a wealth of valuable art-related resources in support of the Museum's collections, exhibitions, research, publications and programs. Ergo its wide range of users include students, scholars, researchers, art historians, curators, and the general public. It is crucial that the Library's OPAC be easy to navigate, so that both those familiar with the library as well as new users can find the library resources and information they seek.

By analyzing the results of the user tests, we identified three main opportunities for improvement in order to enhance the overall usability of the Ingalls Library OPAC: (1) search & browse functionalities, (2) display of search results and (3) e-shelf functionality. Particular issues within these three categories were identified and subsequent actionable recommendations were made in order to remedy the concerns raised by users. These suggestions include, but are not limited to: adopting more user-friendly terminology, clarifying the browse function, providing misspelled word detection, offering faceted searching, and increasing the visibility of the e-shelf feature. Implementing these changes is sure to improve the overall experience of Ingalls Library OPAC users, which will, in turn, help to increase the usability of the Ingalls Library and their website as a whole.

REFERENCES

- Banger, A., Kortum, P., and Miller, J. (2009). Determining What Individual SUS Scores Mean: Adding an Adjective Rating Scale. *Journal of Usability Studies*, 4(3), 114-123. Retrieved from <u>http://www.usability.gov/how-to-and-</u> tools/methods/system-usability-scale.html
- Barnum, C.M. (2011). Usability testing essentials: Ready, set...test!. Burlington, MA: Morgan Kaufmann. ISBN: 012375092X.
- Brooke, J. (2013). SUS: A Retrospective. *Journal of Usability Studies*, 8(2), 29-40. Retrieved May 7, 2015 from <u>http://www.usability.gov/how-to-and-tools/methods/system-usability-scale.html</u>
- Folstad, A., Law, E., & Hornbaek, K. (2012). Analysis in practical usability evaluation: A survey study. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems (CHI '12) (pp. 2127-2136). New York, NY: ACM.

- Norgaard, M., & Hornbaek, K. (2006). What do usability evaluators do in practice? An explorative study of think-aloud testing. In *Proceedings of the 6th conference on designing interactive systems (DIS '06)* (pp. 209-218). New York, NY: ACM.
- Sauro, J. (2011). A practical guide to the System Usability Scale (SUS): Background, benchmarks, and best practices. *Measuring Usability*.
- Sauro, J. (2011, February 2). Measuring usability with the System Usability Scale (SUS). *Measuring Usability*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.measuringu.com/sus.php</u>
- US Department of Health and Human Services (2015, May 7). System usability scale. Retrieved from <u>http://www.usability.gov/how-to-and-tools/methods/system-usability-scale.html</u>

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: Participant Consent Form

Pratt Institute School of Information and Library Science 144 West 14th Street, Sixth Floor New York, NY 10011

Purpose

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the usability of the Ingalls Library Website (<u>http://library.clevelandart.org/opac</u>). This study is part of a Pratt Institute graduate level class, under the supervision of Professor Craig MacDonald.

Procedure

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to do the following:

- 1. Find resources pertaining to a specific artist and art work;
- 2. Find resources pertaining to a specific artists;
- 3. Research art auctions; and,
- 4. Find newly purchased book and resources.

Voluntary Nature of the Study/Confidentiality

You are voluntarily taking part in this study. At any point you are welcome to tell the moderator that you would like to discontinue your participation in the study. You may also ask the moderator any questions at any time during the study. Your name and personal information is completely confidential and will only be accessible to the members of the project team.

Contacts and Questions

If you have any questions after the study is complete, you may contact:



Statement of Consent & Recording Release

I agree to participate in the study conducted and recorded by Pratt Institute.

I understand and consent to the use and release of the recording by Pratt Institute. I understand that the information and recording is for research purposes only and that my

name and image will not be used for any other purpose. I relinquish any rights to the recording and understand the recording may be copied and used by Pratt Institute without further permission.

I understand that participation in this usability study is voluntary and I agree to immediately raise any concerns or areas of discomfort during the session with the study administrator.

Please sign below to indicate that you have read and you understand the information on this form and that any questions you might have about the session have been answered.

Date:_____

Please print your name:_____

Please sign your name: _____

Age:_____ (Note: You must be 18 years of age or older to participate in this study. Let the experimenter know if you are under 18 years old.)

Thank you! We appreciate your participation.

APPENDIX B: Moderator Materials

Moderator Checklist

Before participant arrives:

- Turn on computer & be sure UserZoom is loaded properly and ready to go.
 - Username:
 - Password:
 - Make sure to install the video plug-in
- Get refreshments set up.
- Ensure you have all of the following:
 - Script
 - Enough printed consent forms (one for each participant)
 - Enough moderator notes documents (one copy for each user test)
 - Pens/Pencils

When participant arrives:

- Welcome participant. Introduce yourself. Thank them for participating.
- Offer refreshment.
- Set participant up at designated computer.
- Read script for Introduction & Informed consent and follow instructions.

After consent form is signed:

- Read Pre-Test Questionnaire script & follow instructions.
- Read Introduction to Tasks script & follow instructions.
- Read Task #1 script & follow instructions.
- Read Task #2 script & follow instructions.
- Read Task #3 script & follow instructions.
- Read Task #4 script & follow instructions.

Once all tasks are completed:

- Read Post-Test Questionnaire script & follow instructions.
- Read Debrief script & follow instructions.
- Thank participant again and provide them with "Thank You" treat.

Moderator Script

Introduction and Informed Consent Script

Hi! My name is _____. I am a one of four members in a group of students studying Usability Theory and Practice at Pratt Institute.

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this study examining the online library catalog of the Ingalls Library. Part of the Cleveland Museum of Art, the Ingalls Library is a place to search for art-related information and resources, including books, art catalogs, auction catalogs, videos and journals. Your feedback will inform our group's recommendations for how to improve the library's website. By the way, I am not affiliated with the Ingalls Library so don't feel like you have to filter your comments. Nothing you say today will offend me, so please speak your mind!

During our session together, I will be reading from a script to ensure that all study participants receive the same instructions. I will be observing you as you interact with the Ingalls Library website through a tool called UserZoom, which will guide you through four tasks and several questionnaires. UserZoom will record video of you and your screen as well as audio.

During the session, I will ask you to please think aloud and verbalize your thoughts about your experience with the website as they occur. After you have finished working through each task, you will be prompted to complete a post-task questionnaire.

We want to know what you expect to happen when you make a choice and whether it meets with your expectations or not. We want to know what surprises, what delights, what confuses or even frustrates you, and why. If you find at any point that you're not sure what to do or you're trying to figure something out, tell us what you're thinking. When you share with us what you're thinking as you go along, we get a better understanding of how the process works for you. For instance, you might say, "I'm clicking on this link... Oh, that's not what I expected to happen" or "Yes, it took me exactly where I wanted to go."

I might ask you questions during the study, and you may ask me procedural questions, but I will not be able to answer questions about the how the website works while you are completing the tasks.

I want to emphasize that we are not testing you, but rather the website. We subscribe to the idea that if you encounter a problem, it's not your fault--it's the website's! We are very interested in what you have to say about the Ingalls Library website, and there are no right or wrong answers.

Please read this user consent form.

Are you comfortable signing this form?

Do you have any questions so far?

Thank you!

Pre-Test Questionnaire Script

Before we begin the tasks, please fill out this pre-test questionnaire so that we can better understand your background.

Thank you.

Just so you know, we've keyed you up at the Ingalls Library search page. The Ingalls Library is the library of the Cleveland Art Museum, and the interface logo and design reflects this association. However, the specific website you will be interacting with is for the library, not the museum.

Task 1 Script

For the first task, you're researching Claude Monet's *Water Lilies* series. Since the Museum owns one of these paintings, you decide the best place to begin researching these paintings is on their library's online catalog. Find what's available in the museum's library about Monet's *Water Lilies*. Save any relevant information about the resources you are interested in since you'll be going to the library later.

Once you are finished working through this task, please click the "OK" button. Please note that you do not have to complete the task to finish working through it, and you may choose at any point to move on to the next task. As previously mentioned, there will be a short, two-question post-task questionnaire to complete after you click "OK."

For reference, the current task description will always be present at the bottom of your UserZoom screen.

[Let them know when the camera and on-screen recording starts and stops -- so they're not surprised when they suddenly see their face in the window at the bottom of the screen]

Thank you, it was really valuable for me to observe your experience.

Task 2 Script

For the second task, please use a different method to find available museum library resources more generally about Claude Monet.

Again, please click the "OK" button when you are finished working through the task.

Thank you.

Task 3 Script

For the third task, research art auctions in which paintings by Monet were sold. You're particularly interested in the oldest and most recent auctions.

Again, please click the "OK" button when you are finished working through the task.

Thank you.

Task 4 Script

For the fourth task, find books and resources recently purchased by the Ingalls Library.

Again, please click the "OK" button when you are finished working through the task.

Thank you.

Post-Test Questionnaire Script

Thanks. Now please fill out the post-test questionnaire. Do you have any thoughts about the Ingalls Library website in general?

Debriefing Script

You did it! Thank you for all of your insights and feedback on the Ingalls Library website. We really appreciate you taking the time to be a participant in our user test. All the information you provided will be anonymous and confidential. We will review the video, audio, and your questionnaire responses and combine them with our other user test results to create a report evaluating the Ingalls Library website. Do you have any further questions or final thoughts for me? Feel free to contact us later with any feedback.

Please help yourself to a sweet treat. Thanks again for participating!

APPENDIX C: Questionnaires & Responses

Pre-test questionnaire and responses

Indicate your age.



What is your occupation? (Check all that apply.)



Other:

- "Teacher"
- "Graphic Designer"
- "User experience researcher and strategist"
- "Associate Development Editor"

What are your preferred online research tools? (For example, Google, WorldCat, NYPL):

"Google, OCLC, Worldcat, Library of Congress Authority Headings, Bookseller's websites, Wikipedia, Poetry Foundation, and Museum's catalog."

"Google"

"Google mainly, NYPL, Bing"

"1.) Google 2.) JSTOR 3.) WorldCat"

"Google scholar, Pratt Libraries' website"

"Google, worldcat"

10%

0%

"Google"

"Google"

Yes Image: Constraint of the constra

50%

60%

70%

80%

100%

90%

Have you ever searched for resources using online library catalogs?

40%



30%

20%



If yes, which websites or resources have you used specifically for art-related research?

"Not sure"

"NYPL, Metropolitan Museum of Art, Rijksmuseum, Getty, MOMA"

"JSTOR, Artstor, BHI, Wikipedia, Oxford Art"

"American Folk Art Museum (where I currently work), The Watson Library"

"I have usually used Google to look up artwork in the past."

"Artsy Oxford Art Online JStor Artforum Google"

Post-task questionnaire and responses

TASK 1

Overall, I am satisfied with the ease of completing this task.

													ľ							
		259	6			25%					13%				38%					
0%	5%	10%	15%	20%	25%	30%	35%	40%	45%	50%	55%	60%	65%	70%	75%	80%	85%	90%	95%	100%
								📕 1 📻 2 📟 3 📟 4 📰 5 📻 I d				did not complete this task.								

I am satisfied with the amount of time it took to complete this task.



TASK 2

Overall, I am satisfied with the ease of completing this task.



I am satisfied with the amount of time it took to complete this task.

	1				_															
	25%					38%							25%					13%		
)%	5%	10%	15%	20%	25%	30%	35%	40%	45%	50%	55%	60%	65%	70%	75%	80%	85%	90%	95%	100%
1 = 2 = 3 = 4 = 5 = I did not complete this tas										this task										

TASK 3

Overall, I am satisfied with the amount of time it took to complete this task.

							1		-							1				
	38%								13%			38%								
0%	5%	10%	15%	20%	25%	30%	35%	40%	45%	50%	55%	60%	65%	70%	75%	80%	85%	90%	95%	100%
									2 📰 3 📰 4 📰 5 🛑 I did not complete this task.											

I am satisfied with the amount of time it took to complete this task.

	38%							25%				13%				25%				
0%	5%	10%	15%	20%	25%	30%	35%	40%	45%	50%	55%	60%	65%	70%	75%	80%	85%	90%	95%	100%
						C	= 1 =	2 🔜 3	8 📕 4 🛛	5 📻	l did not	complete	this task.							

TASK 4

Overall, I am satisfied with the ease of completing this task.



I am satisfied with the amount of time it took to complete this task.



Post-test questionnaire and responses

Would you use the Ingalls Library website in the future?



What do you like about the Ingalls Library website?

"Their logo is nice. They cater to catalogers and librarians with their search indexes, but this is also a con. Their auction searches were nice."

"I like the different search options available."

"Looked basically clean and not over complicated."

"handsome, sleek, contemporary appearance"

"Nothing"

"I liked the dynamic menu at the top of the site, however it fell to the background and I never thought to access it until the last task. The design was clean and not distracting. There are a lot of options when searching for materials."

"Not much - I didn't find it very intuitive. I'm not a current student, so I don't go onto library catalog sites very often. If I did, I might have been quicker with my searches here today."

"Nothing"

What do you think the Ingalls Library could change about its website to make your experience more enjoyable?

"Everything. The search indexes, adding a "refine search" bar that is not in command language, more average user friendly choices, better organization of result searching, clearer way to save results, more information in the records, and more diverse ways to search and browse. Better ways to search artists, rather than having to use author as an option. More subject headings that are specific in the records."

"Maybe make the tabs at the top more noticeable for users, I did not notice they were there until task 4."

"Maybe some color could help, the all white could get confusing."

"more consistent with the filtering/formatting in academic databases (feel like i need to learn all over again how to browse)"

"A lot. For example, simply add some imagery and less text."

"Make the top menu larger and more visible. PICTURES of the material. I had hit the previous page button a lot I could never figure out how to show all of the results at once."

"I think most students now want instantaneous results. If they don't get the info immediately, it's frustrating. The site could be a bit more intuitive. The search boxes should be clear, the advanced search should be clear and user friendly. What's the difference between the magnifying glass and the basic search?"

"make the search functionality and features up to date with current search functionalities on other websites."